Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2016

Kelli A. Gonzalez, Plaintiff/Appellant v. Department of Workforce Services, Defendant/Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

Summary of Argument

7

٩

On July 8th 2015, Final Order Dismissing Plaintiff's Petition for Judicial Review of Final Agency Action was dismissed, failure to appear at the final pretrial conference.

Argument

This case has a lot of work put into it by both parties, Kelli Gonzalez was and has been prepared for the bench trial since May 15th 2015 when the final document exchange was due. The Failure to appear was a family medical emergency and was nonintentionally. Kelli Gonzalez contacted the court clerk via email informing the court of the family medical emergency. Judge Kate Bernard's-Goodman did allow a hearing for Kelli Gonzalez to present evidence for emergency and objection on June 19th 2015. It was a family medical emergency with Kelli Gonzalez's mother at her home, she had fallen down the stairs and was injured on the morning of June 5th 2015 and occurred in between 7:30-8:00 am. Kelli Gonzalez had to assist her mother with the fall, she proceeded to to persuade her to go to the emergency room and her mother absolutely refused to go at that time.

Kelli Gonzalez non-intentionally failed to appear it was a true family medical emergency. Kelli Gonzalez is not guilty with out a trial being heard by Third District Court Judge.

Conclusion

î

.

•

A trial needs to be scheduled for a fair hearing. Both parties have all evidence and documents ready for bench trial. In all fairness to let the Judge decide accordingly to the law.

Certificate of Compliance with Rule

Rule 16 (c) Final Pretrial Conferences Rule 16 (d) Sanctions Rule 23 (c) Motion for emergency relief

1

.

Certificate of Service

I certify that a copy of the attached Brief of Appellant was served upon the parties listed below by mailing it first class mail, personal delivery, fax or email to the following addresses.

Name: Mut of Appeals - Clut
Address: 450 S. State Stoct
52 Acor
SUC 117 84114

.

Sent Vi	a:
	Mail
X	Personal Delivery
-	Fax#
	Email:

Name: WONKFORCE Services - Peggy Stone
Address: RO. Box 140856
1405 3005,
SUC, Ut 8/114

Address:_	
Address:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

J

Ву/

Dated: 2/14/2014

Statement of Facts

- On June 5th, 2015, the Final Pre Trial Conference was held at 9am. Kelli Gonzalez was not able to attend due to a family medical emergency. court did recieve Kelli gonzalez email in regards to the family medical emergency.
- 2. The Defendant requested to dismiss the appeal and strike the bench trial, court advised defendant to file a formal Motion to Dismiss Appeal.
- 3. On June 19th, 2015 Motion to Dismiss Appeal scheduled for 9am, and allowed Kelli Gonzalez to present evidence for emergency and objection.
- 4. Kelli Gonzalez gave court statement opposing motion to dismiss appeal and evidence that it was a non intentional failure to appear.

Addendum

- 1. Rule 16 (c), (d)
- 2. Rule 23C
- 3. Statement Opposing Motion to Dismiss Appeal
- 4. Final Order Dismissing Petition for Judicial Review of Final Agency Action.

Rule 16. Pretrial conferences.

(a) Pretrial conferences. The court, in its discretion or upon motion, may direct the attorneys and, when appropriate, the parties to appear for such purposes as:

(a)(1) expediting the disposition of the action;

(a)(2) establishing early and continuing control so that the case will not be protracted for lack of management;

(a)(3) discouraging wasteful pretrial activities;

(a)(4) improving the quality of the trial through more thorough preparation;

(a)(5) facilitating mediation or other ADR processes for the settlement of the case;

(a)(6) considering all matters as may aid in the disposition of the case;

(a)(7) establishing the time to join other parties and to amend the pleadings;

(a)(8) establishing the time to file motions;

(a)(9) establishing the time to complete discovery;

(a)(10) extending fact discovery;

(a)(11) setting the date for pretrial and final pretrial conferences and trial;

(a)(12) provisions providing for the preservation, disclosure or discovery of electronically stored information;

(a)(13) considering any agreements the parties reach for asserting claims of privilege or of protection as trialpreparation material after production; and

(a)(14) considering any other appropriate matters.

(b) Trial settings. Unless an order sets the trial date, any party may and the plaintiff shall, at the close of all discovery, certify to the court that discovery is complete, that any required mediation or other ADR processes have been completed or excused and that the case is ready for trial. The court shall schedule the trial as soon as mutually convenient to the court and parties. The court shall notify parties of the trial date and of any final pretrial conference.

(c) Final pretrial conferences. The court, in its discretion or upon motion, may direct the attorneys and, when appropriate, the parties to appear for such purposes as settlement and trial management. The conference shall be held as close to the time of trial as reasonable under the circumstances.

(d) Sanctions. If a party or a party's attorney fails to obey an order, if a party or a party's attorney fails to attend a conference, if a party or a party's attorney is substantially unprepared to participate in a conference, or if a party or a party's attorney fails to participate in good faith, the court, upon motion or its own initiative, may take any action authorized by Rule <u>37(b)</u>.

Advisory Committee Notes

Rule 23C. Motion for emergency relief.

(a) Emergency relief; exception. Emergency relief is any relief sought within a time period shorter than specified by otherwise applicable rules. A motion for emergency relief filed under this Rule is not sufficient to invoke the jurisdiction of the appellate court. No emergency relief will be granted in the absence of a separately filed petition or notice that invokes the appellate jurisdiction of the court.

(b) Content of motion. A party seeking emergency relief shall file with the appellate court a motion for emergency relief containing under appropriate headings and in the order indicated:

(b)(1) a specification of the order from which relief is sought;

(b)(2) a copy of any written order at issue;

(b)(3) a specific and clear statement of the relief sought;

(b)(4) a statement of the factual and legal grounds entitling the party to relief;

(b)(5) a statement of the facts justifying emergency action; and

(b)(6) a certificate that all papers filed with the court have been served upon all parties by overnight mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or electronic transmission.

The motion shall not exceed fifteen pages, exclusive of any addendum containing statutes, rules, regulations, or portions of the record necessary to decide the matter. It also shall not seek relief beyond that necessitated by the emergency circumstances justifying the motion.

(c) Service in criminal and juvenile delinquency cases. Any motion filed by a defendant in a criminal case originally charged as a felony or by a juvenile in a delinquency proceeding shall be served on the Appeals Division of the Office of the Utah Attorney General.

(d) Response; no reply. Any party may file a response to the motion within three days after service of the motion or whatever shorter time the appellate court may fix. The response shall not exceed fifteen pages, exclusive of any addendum containing statutes, rules, regulations, or portions of the record necessary to decide the matter. No reply shall be permitted. Unless the appellate court is persuaded that an emergency circumstance justifies and requires a temporary stay of a lower tribunal's proceedings prior to the opportunity to receive or review a response, no motion shall be granted before the response period expires.

(e) Form of papers and number of copies. Papers filed pursuant to this rule shall

comply with the requirements of Rule 23(f).

(f) Hearing. A hearing on the motion will be granted only in exceptional circumstances. No motion for emergency relief will be heard without the presence of an adverse party except on a showing that the party (1) was served with reasonable notice of the hearing, and (2) cannot be reached by telephone.

(g) Power of a single justice or judge to entertain motions. A single justice or judge may act upon a motion for emergency relief to the extent permitted by Rule 19(d) where the relief sought is an extraordinary writ and by Rule 23(e) in all other cases.

Kelli A. Gonzalcz MyName 5226 S. Autumn wood In Address Taylog ville, UT 84129 City, slate, Zip 801-696-9230 Phone KeLN3KdS Ø gmåil. Com Email I am the pg Plaintiff/Petitioner [] Defendant/Respondent [] Witness for the [] Plaintiff/Petition	ner []Defendant/Respondent
[] Attorney for the [] Plaintiff/Petitio Utah Bar number is In the [] District [] Juvenile Judicial District	oner [] Defendant/Respondent and my [] Justice Court of Utah
Kelli A. Gomalez Plaintiff/Petitioner v. Depayment of Workforce Services Defendant/Respondent	Statement [] Supporting [A Opposing Motion to Diffices Appeal [A Hearing Requested 140906172 AA Case Number Katic Bernards-Goodman Judge Commissioner

Instructions:

- You must complete this form before you file it. Court staff cannot complete this form for you. Keep a copy of all documents for your records. •
- ٠
- Attend all court hearings. •

Attach the following: ٠

- Additional pages as needed to complete paragraphs that don't have enough space. Write the paragraph number on the additional page.
- Non-Public Information Form, more fully describing non-public information asked for in this document.
- o Documents supporting your statements (if applicable).
- (1) I say as follows: (State the facts of your case that support/oppose the motion. Make your statements in clear, simple sentences. Make each point a separate paragraph. Number the paragraphs. Arrange the paragraphs logically. Type your statements or print them clearly. The person signing this document must have first-hand knowledge of the facts stated.)

Kelli Obmalez proximate enc ትል (Jan) Ŵ Λ na ٦Ô Tesi netne የህየ አለ ٦DN)

(2) [X] I request a hearing.

[] I do not request a hearing.

(3) List any documents you have attached that support your statements.

Letter from Debra Johnson Signed, Reno orthopaedic Clinic Statement I have not included any non-public information in this document. I declare under penalty of Utah Code Section 78B-5-705 that everything stated in this document is true.

line 1414 Sian here I Date Typed or Printed Name

June 14, 2015

To Whom It May Concern:

This is to verify that I, Debra Johnson, daughter of Kelli Gonzalez experienced a fall down her stairs at her residence at 5226 Autumnwood Lane in Taylorsville, UT on June 5, 2015 at approximately 7:30 a.m.

I had arrived earlier that morning at 2:30 a.m. from my residence in Reno, NV to attend my granddaughter's high school graduation that evening. My daughter wanted me to go to the local ER, however, I refused at that time.

Upon my return to Reno, I saw my doctor, John Zebrack, on Friday, June 12, 2015. They were concerned that I may have broke something from the fall and performed numerous x-rays. I am under Dr. Zebrack's care as I am anticipating upcoming complete knee replacements on both of my knees.

You may contact Dr. Zebrack to verify this information at: Reno Orthopaedic Clinic, 10085 Double R Blvd, Suite #220, Reno, NV 89521. Also, please find a copy of my receipt for that appointment.

Please let me know if you have any questions or further information you may need.

Thank you,

hasi Debra Johnson

1770 Glen Cove Ct. Reno, NV 89521 (775) 247-4577

Remit payment to:

Reno Orthopaedic Clinic 555 North Arlington Ave RENO, NV 89503-4724 (775) 786-3040

Patient Receipt Friday, June 12, 2015

Amount Due	Amount Paid
\$0.00	\$150.00

DEBRA D JOHNSON 1770 GLEN COVE COURT RENO, NV 89521

Description	275 ACC 10 ACC 1	Check # Fee	Units	Insurance	Patient
	825			\$0.00	-\$150.00
,	Balance.			\$0.00	-\$150.00
1965-5 100811 W Brill 1220 NFWT, 1W 99521 775 766 940 79500981682825					
${\rm R}_{\rm eff}$ frank ${\rm R}_{\rm e}$ is to related 2625. ${\rm R}_{\rm eff}$ at the ${\rm R}_{\rm eff}$					
Sale					
XXXXXXXXXXX2227 VISA Entry Method: Swiped					
Total: \$ 150.00					
05/12/15 10:19:05 Inv #: 002227 Appr Code: 011905 Transaction ID: 465163623450198 Apprvd: Online Batch#: 000025	×				
strationer Const					
11月9月年 - 月1月1					
	DEBRA D JOHNSON(160030)/John Zebrack MD/1431 Payment from JOHNSON, DEBRA D	DEBRA D JOHNSON (160030)/ John Zebrack MD/1431825 Payment from JOHNSON, DEBRA D Balance.	DEERA D JOHNSON(160030)/John Zebrack MD/1431825 Payment from JOHNSON, DEBRA D Balance. Interview of the colspan="2">Interview of the colspan="2" Interview of the colsp	DEBRA D JOHNSON(160030)/John Zebrack MD/1431825 Payment from JOHNSON, DEBRA D Balance. Balance. Balance. International particulation of the state	DEBRA D. JOHNSON (160030)/John Zebrack MD/1431825 \$0.00 Balance. \$0.00 Balance. \$0.00

Thank you for your payment! Please visit us at www.renoortho.com

Deposit	0-30	31-60	61-90	91-120	Over 120	Total Balance	Ins. Balance	Pat. Balance
\$150.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	-\$150.00	\$0.00	-\$150.00

Reno Orthopaedic Clinic * 10085 DOUBLE R BLVD SUITE 220 * RENO, NV 89521-4830 * (775) 786-3040