2016

Kelli Gonzalez, Plaintiff-Appellant, vs. Utah Department of Workforce Services, Defendant-Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court would normally have jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code § 78A-4-103(2)(a)(ii), which provides jurisdiction over district court review of informal agency adjudicative proceedings. But it is likely that the district court lacked jurisdiction over the case because it was untimely filed and therefore this Court also lacks jurisdiction.

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Lack of jurisdiction

Under the Administrative Procedures Act, a party has 30 days to seek judicial review of informal agency proceedings. Here, the agency's final order issued on July 18, 2014. But Gonzalez sought judicial review on August 19, 2014—two days late. Did the district court have jurisdiction over the de novo review of the agency proceedings?

Standard of review:

This issue does not require review of the district court decision. “[T]he issue of subject matter jurisdiction is a threshold issue, which can be raised at any time and must be addressed before the merits of

other claims.” *Houghton v. Dep’t of Health*, 2005 UT 63, ¶ 16, 125 P.3d 860 (internal quotation marks omitted).

II. Dismissal for failure to appear

District courts have wide discretion to manage the cases before them. Here, Gonzalez failed to appear at the final pre-trial conference and also failed to inform the district court or counsel for the Department why she failed to appear until a week later. After hearing her excuse for her failure to appear and learning that she could have informed the court before the conference, the district court dismissed the action. Was the district court within the bounds of its discretion?

Standard of review:

This Court will not interfere with a district court’s broad discretion to manage its cases, absent an abuse of discretion. *Solis v. Burningham Enters. Inc.*, 2015 UT App 11, ¶ 12 342 P.3d 812. A decision to dismiss for failure to prosecute is within that broad discretion, and this Court will not disturb the decision absent an abuse of discretion and a likelihood that an injustice has occurred.” *Bryner v. Custodian of Records*, 2016 UT App 40, ¶ 6, — P.3d — (per curiam). This Court will reverse a district court’s exercise of discretion only if

“there is no reasonable basis” for the decision. *Solis*, 2015 UT App 11 at ¶12.

Preservation of the issue:

The Department moved to dismiss the petition for review after Gonzalez’s failure to appear at the final pre-trial conference. R. 529. Gonzalez opposed the motion. R. 534, 534-539. And after a hearing, the district court granted the motion. R. 534, 545-546. The order is attached as addendum A.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND
RULES

Any determinative constitutional provisions, statutes or rules are discussed in the body of the brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case:

This appeal arises from the district court’s dismissal of Gonzalez’s petition for judicial review of informal agency action. The Department determined that Gonzalez received food stamp and Medicaid benefits to which she was not entitled. Gonzalez appealed to the district court. The district court dismissed the petition when Gonzalez failed to appear

at the final pre-trial conference, and she failed to adequately keep the district court informed about her failure to appear.

Course of proceedings and disposition below:

Gonzalez filed a petition for judicial review with this Court on August 19, 2013, and this Court transferred it to the district court. R. 54. More than a year later, Gonzales refiled the petition with the district court on September 8, 2014. R. 40-43, 54. The Department moved to dismiss the petition with supporting memorandum, R. 30-31, 32-47, and Gonzalez opposed the motion. R. 52-56. The Department replied. R. 57-62. The district court denied the motion and set the matter for discovery and trial. R. 71.

The district court set the final pre-trial conference for 9:00 a.m. on June 5, 2015. R. 519. Gonzalez failed to appear. R. 529. The Department moved to strike the bench trial and dismiss the petition. R. 529. The district court gave Gonzalez until 2:00 p.m. to appear. R. 545. When she did not, the district court struck the bench trial. R. 529.

At a hearing on June 19, 2015, the district court provided Gonzalez an opportunity to explain her failure to appear. R. 534. After hearing her explanation, the district court determined that, despite

opportunities to do so before the pre-trial conference, Gonzalez failed to adequately and timely inform the court why she failed to appear. R. 534, 545-546. The district court then dismissed the petition for review. *Id.* Gonzalez appealed to this Court. R. 557.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Department held informal proceedings and determined that Gonzalez received food stamps and Medicaid coverage to which she was not entitled. R. 17. Gonzalez's husband was living with her and her children during certain periods when she received those benefits and his income was not included in the calculations. R. 17. The Department issued its decision on July 18, 2013. *Id.*

Gonzalez filed a petition for judicial review in this Court on August 19, 2013. R. 54. This Court referred the petition to the Third District Court on September 9, 2013. R. 54. Nothing happened until Gonzalez refiled her petition on September 8, 2014. R. 1, 40-43.

The district court allowed the case to proceed and issued a scheduling order. R. 91-92, 512-514. The bench trial was rescheduled and finally set for June 9, 2015. R. 519. The final pre-trial was set for 9:00 a.m. on June 5, 2015. R. 519.

Gonzalez failed to appear at the pre-trial. R. 529. The Department's counsel moved to strike the bench trial and dismiss the petition. R. 529. The district court did not strike the bench trial until after 2:00 p.m. that day. R. 545. Gonzalez never contacted the court or the Department's counsel on June 5, 2015.

At the hearing on the Department's motion to dismiss, Gonzalez told the court that her mother had fallen down Gonzalez's stairs at 7:30 a.m. on June 5, and had refused medical attention. R. 534, 536, 537-39. The district court noted that Gonzalez failed to inform the court about any of the circumstances until well-after the events. R. 534, 546. Accordingly, the court dismissed the petition.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Subject matter jurisdiction can be raised for the first time on appeal. Here, Gonzalez's initial petition for judicial review was filed in this Court on August 19, 2013. But that was 32 days after the Department issued its final agency action. The petition was therefore two days late, and the district court lacked jurisdiction to hear it.

But even if the district court had jurisdiction over the petition, it did not abuse its discretion when it dismissed it based on Gonzalez's

failure to appear at the final pre-trial conference. Gonzalez had ample opportunity to contact the court or the Department's counsel before the hearing to explain why she could not appear. But she did nothing. Her neglect was not excusable.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court lacked jurisdiction over the petition because it was filed two days late.

Section 63G-4-401(3)(a) of the Utah Administrative Procedure Act (“UAPA”)¹ provides, “A party shall file a petition for judicial review of final agency action within 30 days after the date that the order constituting the final agency action is issued” When addressing the filing of these petitions, “[the Utah Supreme Court] as well as the Court of Appeals, has strictly honored the statutory time limitation for filing a petition for judicial review of a final agency action under 63-46b-14(3)(a).” *Union Pac. R.R. Co. v. Utah State Tax Comm’n*, 2000 UT 40, ¶23, 999 P.2d 17. *See also Dusty’s, Inc. v. Auditing Div.*, 842 P.2d 868 (Utah 1992) (holding appeal untimely when filed three days late); *Maverik Country Stores v. Indus. Comm’n*, 860 P.2d 944 (Utah Ct. App.

¹ The Utah Administrative Procedure Act was formerly codified as § 63-46b-14.

1993) (dismissing appeal because appellant filed petition for review one day late); *Bonded Bicycle Couriers v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, 844 P.2d 358 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (holding that filing after thirty-day statutory limitation period has expired is untimely and thus no jurisdiction exists).

Below, the Department moved to dismiss Gonzalez's petition because she filed it on September 8, 2014, more than a year after the Department issued its final agency decision. But the district court ruled that Gonzalez's improper filing of the initial petition with this Court excused her lateness. But no one, including the district court, considered whether the initial filing was timely. It was not.

The Department issued its final decision on July 19, 2013. Gonzalez filed her petition for review on August 19, 2013, albeit in the wrong court. But, to be timely, the petition had to be filed on or before August 17, 2013. Gonzalez's initial filing was two days late. Thus, the district court lacked jurisdiction over the petition.

Jurisdiction can be raised at any time, and challenges to subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived. *Chen v. Stewart*, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 34, 100 P.3d 1177. The case should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

II. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it dismissed the case based on Gonzalez's failure to appear.

If the district court did indeed have jurisdiction over the petition for judicial review, the district court was well-within the bounds of its discretion when it dismissed the petition based on Gonzalez's failure to appear at the final pre-trial conference. In examining whether the district court was within the bounds of its broad discretion, this Court balances the competing needs of expediting litigation and efficiently using judicial resources against the need to allow parties to have their day in court. *See Bryner*, 2016 UT App 40 at ¶ 6. But the Court always keeps in mind that, "the plaintiff, as the party initiating the lawsuit, has the primary responsibility to move the case forward." *Id.* (quoting *Hartford Leasing Corp. v. State*, 888 P.2d 694, 697 (Utah Ct. App. 1994)).

In the context of a dismissal for failure to prosecute, this Court considers "(1) the conduct of both parties, (2) the opportunity each party has to move the case forward, (3) what each party has done to move the case forward, (4) the amount of difficulty or prejudice that may have

caused the other side, and (5) whether injustice may result from the dismissal.” *Bryner*, 2016 UT App 40 at ¶ 6.

Those factors show that, here, there was no abuse of discretion. The district court’s scheduling order specifically states that, “The parties must appear and bring all relevant evidence and witnesses. If a party fails to appear, an order may be entered against that party.” R. 91, 513. The final pre-trial was scheduled for June 5, 2015 at 9:00 a.m. The Department was present, but Gonzalez was not.

The district court did not immediately strike the bench trial or grant the Department’s motion to dismiss. Instead, the court gave Gonzalez until 2:00 p.m. that day to contact the court or appear. R. 545. She did neither. Nor did she contact the Department’s counsel. The district court set a hearing on the motion to dismiss for June 19, 2015.

At the hearing, Gonzalez told the court that her mother had fallen at 7:30 a.m. on the morning of the pre-trial. R. 534, 536-39. Her mother refused medical attention at that time. *Id.* Gonzalez had time to make several calls before the 9:00 a.m. pre-trial conference, but did not call the court or Department’s counsel. In fact, Gonzalez did not tell anyone about what was going on until a week later.

In addition, the district court noted that Gonzalez's mother waited seven days before seeking any type of medical assessment, and the receipt evidencing a medical assessment did not specify that there was an injury or that any medical care was indeed provided to her mother. R. 546. Furthermore, Gonzalez was not the one injured, and she "failed to keep the Court apprised of the reason for Plaintiff's failure to appear." R. 534, 546.

On appeal, Gonzalez shows no error on the district court's part. She simply reiterates her excuse for not being at the pre-trial conference. But the district court was free to listen to the excuse and judge Gonzalez's credibility, demeanor, and sincerity and make the decision whether the excuse adequately explained the failure to appear or even contact the court. *See Glauser Storage, LCC v. Smedley*, 2001 UT App 141 ¶ 24, 27 P.3d 565 (judge in best position to make credibility assessment).

The district court was within its discretion to dismiss Gonzalez's petition for her failure to appear. Gonzalez could have contacted the court and the Department's counsel on that morning to say she could not appear. She could have even contacted them later that day, but she

did nothing. Moving the case forward was her primary responsibility. Her lack of diligence wasted judicial resources and cost the Department time and money. By failing to appear or to even contact the court, Gonzalez risked the possibility her case would be dismissed. There was no abuse of discretion here.